

 


 


The City has adopted a Reasonable Accommodations Policy that provides a procedure 
for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation to participate in this meeting. 
Please visit yubacity.net ADA & Accessibility Resources page. If you need assistance 
in order to attend the Planning Commission meeting, or if you require auxiliary aids or 
services, e.g., hearing aids or signing services to make a presentation to the Planning 
Commission, the City is happy to help. Accommodations should be requested as early 
as possible as additional time may be required in order to provide the requested 
accommodation; 72 hours in advance is suggested. Please contact City offices at (530) 
822-4817 or (TTY: 530-822-4732), so such aids or services can be arranged. Requests 
may also be made by email at cityclerk@yubacity.net or citymanager@yubacity.net or 
mail City Clerk, 1201 Civic Center Blvd, Yuba City, CA 95993. 


AGENDA 


WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 13, 2023 
REGULAR MEETING 


PLANNING COMMISSION 
CITY OF YUBA CITY 


 
6:00 P.M. – REGULAR MEETING 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


1201 Civic Center Blvd 
Yuba City, CA 95993 


 
Wheelchair Accessible 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


• Jackie SillmanCHAIRPERSON


• Stacy BrookmanVICE CHAIRPERSON
• James NoreCOMMISSIONER


• Rupinder Johl SandhuCOMMISSIONER


• Justine GillCOMMISSIONER


• Bhavin Singh DaleCOMMISSIONER


• Karri Campbell (Sutter Co. Rep)COMMISSIONER



https://www.yubacity.net/cms/One.aspx?portalId=239258&pageId=1955634

mailto:cityclerk@yubacity.net

mailto:citymanager@yubacity.net





 


AGENDA 
PLANNING COMMISSION 


CITY OF YUBA CITY 
DECEMBER 13, 2023 


6:00 P.M. - REGULAR MEETING  
 
Materials related to an item on this Agenda, submitted to the Commission after distribution of the agenda 
packet, are available for public inspection at City Hall at 1201 Civic Center Blvd., Yuba City, during normal 
business hours. Such documents are also available on the City of Yuba City’s website at 
www.yubacity.net, subject to staff’s availability to post the documents before the meeting. 
  
Emailed comments sent to developmentservices@yubacity.net at least 24 hours before the meeting will 
be distributed to the Planning Commission prior to the meeting. Please identify the Agenda item(s) 
addressed by the comments. 
Call to Order 
  
Roll Call:  


_____ Chairperson Sillman 
_____  Vice Chairperson Brookman 
_____  Commissioner Nore 


 _____ Commissioner Sandhu 
 _____ Commissioner Gill 
 _____ Commissioner Dale  


_____ Commissioner Campbell (Sutter County Representative) 
 
Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag 
 
Public Comment on Items not on the Agenda 
You are welcome and encouraged to participate in this meeting. Public comment on items not listed on 
the agenda will be heard at this time. Comments on controversial items may be limited and large groups 
are encouraged to select representatives to express the opinions of the group. 
 
1. Written Requests 


Members of the public submitting written requests, at least 24 hours prior to the meeting, will be 
normally allotted five minutes to speak. 


  
2. Appearance of Interested Citizens 


Members of the public may address the Planning Commission on items of interest that are within the 
City’s jurisdiction. Individuals addressing general comments are encouraged to limit their statements 
to three minutes. 


Planning Commission Business 
 
3. Agenda Modifications 
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
4. Minutes from September 27, 2023 



http://www.yubacity.net/

mailto:developmentservices@yubacity.net





 


Business Items 
 
5. Consideration of Use Permit 23-02 for construction of a 60-foot-high monopole cell tower and 


related ground equipment, located at 223 Clark Ave, the southeast corner of Clark Avenue 
and Clinton Street. 
 


     Recommendation:       A. Conduct a Public Hearing and make the necessary findings to: 
 
  B. Adopt a resolution of the Planning Commission of the City of Yuba City 


approving Environmental Assessment 23-09 by adopting a mitigated negative 
declaration, subject to the proposed conditions of approval and mitigation 
measures, and approving Use Permit 23-02 for a 60-foot-high cell tower and 
related ground equipment on an approximately 1,000 square foot leased area.  
Located at 223 Clark Avenue (a portion of Assessor’s Parcel Number 53-174-
001). 


 
6. Consideration of Zoning Code Amendment 23-01 to revise Section 8-5.6104 of the Yuba City 


Municipal Code regarding parking standards for boats, utility trailers and recreational 
vehicles in residential areas.  


 
      Recommendation:       A. Conduct a Public Hearing and make the necessary findings to: 
 


B. Adopt a resolution of the Planning Commission of the City of Yuba City 
recommending the City Council find the project is exempt from 
environmental review pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061 (b)(3) 
and recommend the City Council approve Zoning Code Amendment 23-01 
to revise the parking standards for boats, utility trailers and recreational 
vehicles in residential area. 


 
Miscellaneous Items  
 
7. Future Agenda Items 
  
8. Development Services Director Report  
 
9. Report of Actions of the Yuba City Planning Commission/Sutter County Update 
 
Adjournment 


******* 
Persons dissatisfied with any decision of the Planning Commission may appeal such action to the City 
Council.  Appeals, accompanied by a fee of $851.26, must be filed with the City Clerk, 1201 Civic Center 
Boulevard, Yuba City, CA 95993 within 10 days of such action.  If no appeal is filed within this time limit, 
the Planning Commission action becomes final.  The exception to this is rezone requests.  Please check 
with the Planning Division, 1201 Civic Center Boulevard, Yuba City, CA  95993 for the procedure.  Mailed 
notices of the Council hearings will be accomplished in the same manner as the Planning Commission 
hearings unless additional notice is deemed necessary. 







 


 


PLANNING COMMISSION 
CITY OF YUBA CITY 
September 27, 2023 


6:00 P.M. - REGULAR MEETING 
  


Video link to full Planning Commission meeting: 
 https://youtu.be/P3Gb6XHvG28?si=Notj4Dasi5-Nh5F 


 
Materials related to an item on this Agenda, submitted to the Commission after distribution of the agenda 
packet, are available for public inspection at City Hall at 1201 Civic Center Blvd., Yuba City, during normal 
business hours. Such documents are also available on the City of Yuba City’s website at 
www.yubacity.net, subject to staff’s availability to post the documents before the meeting. 
  
Call to Order 
 
Meeting called to order by Chairperson Sillman at 6:00 pm. 
  
Roll Call:  
 
Commissioners in attendance: 
 


Chairperson Sillman 
Vice Chairperson Brookman 
Commissioner Gill 
Commissioner Nore  
Commissioner Sandhu 
Commissioner Campbell (Sutter County Representative) 


 
Commissioner Dale was absent (excused absence) 


 
Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag was led by Vice Chair Brookman. 
 
Public Comment on Items not on the Agenda 
 


* Please note that the spelling of Public Commenters names is unknown. * 
 
You are welcome and encouraged to participate in this meeting. Public comment on items not listed on 
the agenda will be heard at this time. Comments on controversial items may be limited and large groups 
are encouraged to select representatives to express the opinions of the group. 
 
1. Written Requests 


 
Members of the public submitting written requests, at least 24 hours prior to the meeting, will be 
normally allotted five minutes to speak. 
 
There were no written requests received.  


 
 
2. Appearance of Interested Citizens 



https://youtu.be/P3Gb6XHvG28?si=xVY6bViXC_Gj0AzO

http://www.yubacity.net/





 


Members of the public may address the Planning Commission on items of interest that are within the 
City’s jurisdiction. Individuals addressing general comments are encouraged to limit their statements 
to three minutes. 


Heather Esemann, Sanborn and Lincoln Rd, requested the city do more to facilitate electric vehicle 
charger development. She stated she felt the City Council dismissed her previous comments 
regarding electric vehicle chargers.  
 


Planning Commission Business 
 
3. Agenda Modifications 
 


Chairperson Sillman requested approval of the agenda. 
 
Motion by: Vice Chair Brookman 
Second by: Commissioner Gill 


 
Vote: The motion passed 6-0 with Commissioner Dale Absent 


 
Approval of Minutes 
 
4. Minutes from August 23, 2023 


 
Chairperson Sillman requested approval of the minutes. 
 
Motion by: Commissioner Gill  
Second by: Commissioner Sandhu  


 
Vote: The motion passed 6-0 with Commissioner Dale Absent 
 


Business Items 
 
5. Consideration of an 18-month time extension for Tentative Subdivision Map 19-02, West 


Sanborn Estates, located on the northwest corner of Bogue Road and Sanborn Road. 
 


Item was called and Aaron Brown, Assistant Planner, gave a presentation. 
 


Public Hearing:  
 
Vice Chair Brookman asked if the project would be back before the Planning Commission for another 
18-month time extension? 
 
Ben Moody, Director of Public Works and Development Services, explained the reasoning for the 
applicant requesting the 3 years, and the parameters of the code limiting requests to 18 months each. 
 


 
Heather Esemann, Sanborn and Lincoln Rd, asked if the delay is on the developer or the 
infrastructure? 
 







 


Ben Moody responded that the action being taken tonight is the extension of the map, and the next 
step is the owner of the property, coordinating with the developer, to move forward with improvement 
plans. The City is not putting anything on hold. 
 
Sean Minard, project representative, clarified that the current situation of the market is the hold up, 
not the infrastructure. 
 
Chairperson Sillman closed the public hearing. 


 
Commissioner Comments: 
 
Commissioner Campbell Abstained from voting. 
 
Motion by: Commissioner Gill 
Second by: Commissioner Nore 
 
Vote: The motion passed 5-0 with Commissioner Dale Absent, and Commissioner Campbell 
Abstaining 


 
6. Tentative Parcel Map (TPM) 23-01 to create four parcels at 2930 Jefferson Avenue, Accessors 


Parcel Number 62-071-024.  
 
Item was called and Aaron Brown, Assistant Planner, gave a presentation. 


 
Commissioner Nore asked about the ingress, egress and utility easement involved in the project, and 
how the other properties that are currently using it would be affected. 
 
Nikos Krohn, project applicant, responded that the property to the South of the project site, that 
currently uses the easement is a family member and is aware of the project. 
 
Commissioner Nore asked if neighbors could join an HOA/Maintenance agreement. 
 
Ben Moody responded yes it could be worked out amongst the owners, but it isn’t a condition of the 
current project. 
 
Nikos Krohn, project applicant, responded that he is open to discussing the easement/HOA with the 
property owners that will use the easement to the south of the project. 
 
Public Hearing: 
 
Heather Esemann, Sanborn and Lincoln Rd, commented on the water sewer connections, and that 
neighbors should have a reimbursement agreement. 
 
Ben Moody, noted that the owner should reach out to the property owners that will use the easement 
to the south of the project and offer them the opportunity to hook into the water/sewer line connection 
during design review. 
 
Chairperson Sillman closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by: Commissioner Sandhu 
Second by: Vice Chair Brookman 







 


 
Roll Call Vote: 
 


Commissioner Nore - Yes 
Commissioner Sandhu - Yes 
Commissioner Gill - Yes 
Commissioner Campbell - Yes 
Vice Chairperson Brookman - Yes 
Chairperson Sillman - Yes 


 
Vote: The motion passed 6-0 with Commissioner Dale Absent 
 
 


7. Tentative Subdivision Map (TSM) 22-02 and an associated Development Agreement (DA): 
Sohal Ranch Subdivision 
 
Item was called and Doug Libby, Deputy Director of Development Services, gave a presentation. 
 
A written comment was received from Patricia Carvo and distributed to the Planning Commission 
before the start of meeting. 
 
Doug Libby responded to the written comment received by Ms. Carvo regarding traffic and clarified 
that no traffic light is proposed. He answered a question regarding the sewer line and responded that 
the neighbors would have a better opportunity to tie in to sewer and water, subject to payment of 
required connection fees. Additionally, he addressed a concern that the subdivision construction 
would impact a private wells and septic tanks and indicated that the construction wouldn’t be deep 
enough to affect them. 
 
Commissioner Campbell stated he believes the neighborhood park should be located on the corner 
of Lincoln and George Washington Blvd. He stated he believes the current placement is a detriment. 
 
Commissioner Gill asked a question about the fair-share contribution of the future signalization at the 
intersection of Bogue and Sanborn roads. 
 
Doug Libby explained that this is done through a traffic modeling exercise performed by a traffic 
engineer.  
 
Ben Moody agreed with Doug and explained how the portion of money goes into the roads, and what 
that trigger point is.  
 
Commissioner Sandhu asked why Harter was included in traffic analysis  
 
Doug Libby explained how the project included a more focused traffic analysis and borrowed heavily 
from the EIR and the traffic model completed for the Lincoln East Specific Plan. 
 
Chair Sillman explained how she agreed with Commissioner Campbell’s park comment and asked if 
the park could be moved? 
 
Commissioner Gill commented that the park location is due to the layout of the Lincoln East Specific 
Plan. 







 


 
 
Public Hearing: 
 
Sean Minard, project representative, commented that the purpose of this park is to be a neighborhood 
park, which is supposed to be local for the specific neighborhood. 


       
Heather Esemann, Sanborn and Lincoln Rd, questioned why the development is occurring in this 
area, and that more compact development would be best. She mentioned that there is development 
in the path from the proposed location to the nearest school. She also mentioned that she wants to 
see bike lanes be incorporated. 
 
Sean Minard, project representative, responded that you can only develop where you own the 
property.  Regarding the timing/phasing of the park, he noted that the park is triggered by the 98th lot. 
He also explained the new sewer lift station, and that the goal is to eventually run sewer line down 
Harter Parkway and across Bogue Rd. 
 
Commissioner Gill asked if the sewer line would not be continued on the northern portion of the 
property, as there was curiosity from a member of the public to connect to sewer. 
 
Sean Minard, project representative, indicated that the sewer line would run along Lincoln Rd, and 
down Sohal Way. He mentioned the ability to connect, if neighbors were willing to pay a sewer 
connection fee. 
 
Commissioner Nore asked if the southeast corner of the development by the park would be accessible 
to walk, or if there would be a fence. 
 
Sean Minard, project representative, indicated the area will have curb, gutter, and sidewalk, as well 
as a trap fence. 
 
Commissioner Sandhu asked if only two ingress/egress points would be enough for 173 homes. 
 
Sean Minard, project representative, answered yes, it is sufficient for ingress/egress.  
 
Commissioner Gill asked to confirm that Pasa Tiempo Dr. will connect with George Washington Blvd. 
 
Sean Minard, project representative, indicated that there is plenty of distance to have turn pockets 
and avoid future traffic issues. 
 
Ben Moody responded that the future connection is important with this project, and that this project 
will build/ and pay for its half of the roadway on George Washington Blvd. 
 
Commissioner Gill asked about the timing of the installation of road improvements. 
 
Ben Moody responded that it depends, and that the timing for phases can change. 
 
Commissioner Gill asked if there would be any landscaping along frontages. 
 
Sean Minard, project representative, answered yes, and pointed toward the typical road section that 
includes detached sidewalk and landscaping. 
 







 


Commissioner Campbell stated that Shanghai Bend is the best example of a good park that we have, 
and that he stands by his concern regarding the proposed park location. 
 
Terry Boyer, Lincoln Rd, asked for clarification on why only half of the road is going to be improved. 
 
Doug Libby responded that developers are only obligated for their half of the street. He noted that the 
city will still maintain the north side of George Washington. 
 
Ben Moody responded regarding frontage improvements, and explained that the volume of the project 
triggers the scope of the improvements needed. He continued that Developers are responsible to 
build half of the street and the development pays the Road impact fee for future improvements. 
Ultimately, 179 homes triggers frontage improvements, not the full four lanes. 
 
Robert Boyer, 2875 Lincoln Rd, stated he would prefer to have the park built along George 
Washington Blvd.  
 
Chairperson Sillman closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion by: Vice Chair Brookman 
Second by: Commissioner Sandhu 
 
Roll Call Vote: 
 


Commissioner Nore - Yes 
Commissioner Sandhu - Yes 
Commissioner Gill - Yes 
Commissioner Campbell - No 
Vice Chairperson Brookman - Yes 
Chairperson Sillman - Yes 


 
 
Vote: The motion passed 5-1 with Commissioner Dale Absent 
 


8. General Plan Amendment (GPA) 23-03, Rezone (RZ) 23-03, Bains-Butte House. 
 


Item was called and Doug Libby, Deputy Director of Development Services, gave a presentation. 
 


Commissioner Comment: 
 


Commissioner Gill asked if projects can be brought forward as just a standalone General Plan 
Amendment/Rezoning, or if a development plan should be proposed at the same time. 
 
Doug Libby responded that yes, a project can be brought forward as a standalone General Plan 
Amendment/ Rezoning. He indicated that a previous project that included a development plan alongside 
the General Plan Amendment/Rezone was requested from a previous Planning Commission, potentially 
due to the scope of the project. 
 
Commissioner Nore asked about the City’s noticing process. 
 







 


Doug Libby responded that the project is published in the newspaper for a 20-day public comment period, 
and mailed notice is sent to property owners within 300 feet of the project. 


 
 
Public Comment: 
       
No public comment was provided and Chairperson Sillman closed the public hearing.  
 
 


Motion by: Commissioner Nore 
Second by: Commissioner Campbell 
 
Vote: The motion passed 6-0 with Commissioner Dale Absent 
 


 
Miscellaneous Items  
 
9. A Presentation on the City’s New Permit Planner Software 
 
Item was called and Ashley Potocnik, Development Liaison, gave a presentation. 
 
 
Commissioner Comment: 
 
Commissioner Campbell commented that he is amazed at how quick this software was implemented, 
and complemented Ashley, and other City Staff for their work. 
 
Chairperson Sillman complimented Ashley’s effort, and her “You Can” movement. 
 
Commissioner Sandhu complimented the new software, and efforts. 
 
Commissioner Nore asked if any outreach for the new software has been done, and how it was received 
by the public. 
 
Ashley Potocnik responded yes, the new software got coverage in the newspaper, presented to City 
Council, as well as other service clubs. 


 
 


10. Future Agenda Items 
 


Deputy Development Services Director Doug Libby provided an update on the following items: 
 
- October Planning Commission meetings will be cancelled. 
- The November and December Planning Commission meetings will be held on the first meeting 


of the month, and the second meeting will be cancelled. 
 
11. Development Services Director Report  


 
Public Works and Development Services Director Ben Moody provided an update on the following 
items: 
- Congratulations to Aaron on first presentation. 







 


- An update on the Henson Family Apartments project.  
- An update on housing construction by DR Horton in the Harter Specific Plan. 
- Chick-Fil-A has expressed interest in potentially finding a location in Yuba City. 


 
Commissioner Comments: 
 
Chair Sillman asked about Henson Farms. What is the purpose of the workshop, and if the community 
doesn’t like it, will anything be changed? 
 
Ben Moody responded the meeting will go over the different potential solutions to traffic in the area and 
the City will discuss the advantages and disadvantages of each. 
 
Commissioner Gill commented there shouldn’t be moratorium on development. 
 
Commissioner Campbell noted that Council can’t say fully say no. He noted that we are a free market 
system, and that development will come. 
 
Chair Sillman noted that the Planning Commission wants to follow the rules, but City Council ultimately 
decides. 
 
12. Report of Actions of the Yuba City Planning Commission/Sutter County Update 
 
Commissioner Gill provided an update on the following items: 
 


- Two truck yards were approved (one unanimously, and one in a 4/3 vote)  
- A mono-pine cell tower by Sutter Highschool was approved.  
- A special event permit process was passed. 


 
Adjournment  
 
Chairperson Sillman adjourned the meeting at 7:58 pm. 
 


******* 
Persons dissatisfied with any decision of the Planning Commission may appeal such action to the City 
Council.  Appeals, accompanied by a fee of $851.26, must be filed with the City Clerk, 1201 Civic Center 
Boulevard, Yuba City, CA 95993 within 10 days of such action.  If no appeal is filed within this time limit, 
the Planning Commission action becomes final.  The exception to this is rezone requests.  Please check 
with the Planning Division, 1201 Civic Center Boulevard, Yuba City, CA  95993 for the procedure.  Mailed 
notices of the Council hearings will be accomplished in the same manner as the Planning Commission 
hearings unless additional notice is deemed necessary. 







CITY OF YUBA CITY 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
STAFF REPORT 


Date: December 13, 2023 


To: Chair and Members of the Planning Commission 


From: Development Services Department 


Presentation by: Aaron Brown, Assistant Planner 


Subject: Use Permit (UP) 23-02, Verizon Cell Tower: A request to construct a 60-
foot-tall monopole cell tower, that will be camouflaged as a tree, and related 
ground equipment including a diesel generator for emergency use and a 
200-gallon fuel storage tank.  The ground equipment will be screened from
public view along Clark Avenue by neighboring commercial buildings and
will be within a 30-foot by 30-foot fenced area with a masonry wall along
the property’s east side and a vegetative hedge to reduce the noise and
screen views of the equipment from nearby residences.


Recommendation: Following the close of the public hearing adopt a resolution of the Planning 
Commission of the City of Yuba City approving Environmental Assessment 
23-09 by adopting a mitigated negative declaration, subject to the proposed
conditions of approval and mitigation measures, and approving Use Permit
23-02 for a 60-foot-high cell tower and related ground equipment on an
approximately 1,000 square foot leased area.  Located at 223 Clark
Avenue (a portion of Assessor’s Parcel Number 53-174-001).


Applicant: Epic Wireless on behalf of Verizon Wireless 


Property Owner: Daniel Flores, Raminder Bihala, Karmedeep Bihala 


Project Location:    The approximately 1,000 square foot site is located at 223 Clark Avenue. 
The site is a portion of the property in the rear of an existing commercial 
building.  Access to the site is via the vacant lot to the south.  A portion of 
Assessor’s Parcel Number (APN) 53-174-001. 


General Plan:   The project site is within the Neighborhood Commercial (NC) land use 
designation.   


Specific Plan:  The project site is not within a specific plan. 


Zoning:       The property is within the Neighborhood Commercial (C-1) Zone District. 
The Neighborhood Commercial Zone District is, as the name implies, 
primarily intended for a range of smaller commercial uses designed to serve 
the neighborhood it is within.  As this telecommunications facility is designed 
to serve the local area, the C-1 Zone District is interpreted to allow this use, 







Planning Commission  
December 13, 2023 
 


2 
 


provided that a use permit is first approved as provided in the zoning 
regulations.  The use permit allows for conditioning and mitigation measures 
to be applied to the cell tower to assure that the it fits within the 
neighborhood. 


 
Project Description: 
 
Use Permit 23-02 is a request to construct and operate a 60-foot-tall monopole cell tower, to be 
camouflaged to look like a tree, and related ground equipment including a diesel generator, that 
will be screened within a 30-foot by 30-foot fenced area.  The camouflaged cell tower will be 
located within the rear portion of an existing neighborhood commercial area (on three sides) but 
will abut a single-family residence along its west side and the tower will be visible to other 
residents in the area.  The site will be accessed by an internal driveway over a neighboring parcel, 
connecting the site to Clark Avenue. 
 
Background:  
 
Cell towers are regulated by the Zoning Regulations [Section 8-5.5107(b)] which allows cell 
towers by-right in all of the commercial zone districts except the C-1 Zone District, provided they 
do not exceed 60 feet in height.  The ordinance also allows cell towers that do not meet the 
provided criteria if a use permit is first secured.  As a result, this is a use permit application to 
allow a 60-foot cell tower.  The use permit allows for individual review and consideration by the 
Planning Commission based on the project’s own merits. 
  
Analysis 


 
Compatibility with neighboring uses: 
 


This approximately 1,000 square foot site has compatible commercial uses on three sides 
(includes the on-site building on the west side).  There is a single-family residence approximately 
20 feet west of the site and an apartment complex to the southeast.  The 60-foot-tall tower, 
disguised as a tree, will be visible for some distance in all directions.  The two compatibility issues 
associated with the tower are aesthetics and noise.  They are both addressed in the sections 
below. 


 
TABLE 1:  BORDERING LAND USES 


North: Market across Clinton Street. 
South: Commercial building 
East: Single-family residence and apartment complex (southeast). 
West: An on-site commercial building and across Clark Avenue is the St. 


Isadore church and school. 
 


Design Review: 
 


The proposed tower is subject to design review (aesthetics) by the Planning Commission per the 
Yuba City Design Guidelines.   
 
Seeing cell towers within urban areas have become customary and a seemingly necessary part 
of our urban infrastructure.  As with many above-ground utilities, they often are considered by 
many to be unsightly.  At 60-feet tall, the approximately top 30-40 feet of the cell tower will be 







Planning Commission  
December 13, 2023 
 


3 
 


visible in all directions including neighboring residences that are generally west of the site and to 
traffic along Clark Avenue and the uses along Clark Avenue.  In this proposal the upper 40 feet 
of the tower will be camouflaged as a tree, as can be seen in the photo simulations of the tower. 
These simulations provide view from all angles of how the tower/tree will appear from different 
sides.  Although the tower will not exceed 60 feet in height, the tree portion will extend that to 
approximately 65 feet.  While likely not completely screening the underlying tower, the tree 
appearance will appreciably improve the tower’s aesthetics. The tower/tree appears in the 
simulations to be slightly taller than neighboring trees but not to any significant extent that would 
cause it to stand out from a height standpoint  as there are other trees in the vicinity, the tower/tree 
should blend in relatively well. 
 
There will also be accessory equipment around the base of the tower.  The neighboring buildings, 
which are generally under 20 feet in height, will block the view of the base of the tower and the 
accompanying equipment, except for the neighboring residence to the east and the apartments 
to the southeast.  Without screening, the quality of the view from the neighboring residence would 
be reduced.  However, the C-1 zoning District requires that a masonry wall be constructed along 
the common property line (in this case it has been interpreted as the lease line) as well as a 
landscaped hedge that will be constructed along the common residential property lines. The 
ordinance requires that the wall be a minimum of six feet but since the equipment will be eight 
feet high, a mitigation is included to heighten the fence to eight feet.  This wall and accompanying 
vegetative hedge would eliminate the single-family residence’s view of the equipment area as well 
as reduce the view from the neighboring apartments to the southeast.  As such the aesthetics 
from the neighboring residences will be acceptable. 
 
As a result of the solid screening of the base equipment and the tower/tree camouflage, it is staff’s 
opinion that a communications tower is a needed portion of the City’s infrastructure and all 
reasonable efforts to blend the tower and screen the equipment into the area have been made.  
 


Landscaping: 
 
As required by the zoning code, a five-foot-wide hedge will be planted along the eastern property 
line to help screen the view of the lower tower and all of the base equipment from the nearby 
residences.  As it is not shown in the site plan, this is reaffirmed in the conditions of approval and 
mitigation measures. 


 
Noise: 
 


Project related ongoing noise will be from two on-site sources – a heat exchanger a/c unit and an 
emergency generator.  As the noise could be cause for concern to the residential neighbors, a 
noise assessment letter was provided by Waterford Consulting, dated October 19, 2023 (See 
Appendix B of the Environmental Assessment which is Attachment 5 of this staff report). 
 
The heat exchanger, which sometimes may operate on an ongoing basis, will likely not be any 
louder than a residential air conditioning unit.  Per the study, the noise level at the property line 
would be 37.9 dBA, which is well below the 55-decibel level considered by General Plan policy 
as always acceptable in residential areas.  
 
The second noise source will be the on-site emergency generator (large lithium batteries are not 
considered to be acceptable) that will be be utilized during emergency periods and also for weekly 







Planning Commission  
December 13, 2023 
 


4 
 


testing.  The weekly testing will generally not be more than one-half hour per test.  The anticipated 
noise level at the property line during these short operational periods is estimated to be 51.3 dBA, 
which is also within acceptable levels.  As the Zoning Regulations require a masonry wall be 
constructed between the facility and the residence the noise will actually be somewhat lower, per 
the study.  The anticipated noise level from the generator, which will typically not be utilized for 
more than the approximately one-half hour weekly will be well within the General Plan policy for 
acceptable noise levels in residential areas. 
 
 Radio Frequency Radiation (RF) Waves: 
 
Cell towers emit radio frequency radiation (RF) waves via receiving and transmitting with cell 
phones.  There has been concern expressed by some regarding the impact of these waves for 
cancer in humans.  In light of this the following is a summary of information provided by the 
American Cancer Society (copy of the entire report is provided as Attachment A to the 
Environmental Assessment that is attached to this report). 


• RF waves are like FM radio waves, visible light, and heat as they do not directly damage 
DNA inside cells, vs stronger ionizing radiation which includes X-rays, gamma rays, and 
ultraviolet (UV) rays. 


• At very high levels RF waves can heat up body tissues, but the levels of energy used by 
cell phones and cell towers are much lower. 


• At ground level near typical cellular base stations, the amount of energy from RF waves 
is hundreds to thousands of times less than the limits for safe exposure set by U.S. Federal 
Communications Commission (FCC).  It is very unlikely that a person could be exposed 
to RF levels in excess of these limits by being near a cell tower. 


While the American Cancer Society does not have any official position or statement on whether 
or not RV waves from cell phone towers cause cancer, they do reference other agencies that do.  
The general consensus in that report is that based on current studies there is insufficient evidence 
that RF waves from cell towers is carcinogenic.  As such, the impact from RF waves on the local 
residences is not considered to be an issue. 
 


Availability of City services: 
 


City water and wastewater are available to the property, but the operation of the cell tower does 
not require regular water and sewer and water connections. The stormwater drainage system is 
nearby for the small increase in stormwater. 
 
Environmental Considerations: 
 
An environmental assessment was prepared for this project in accordance with the requirements 
of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines.  This process included 
the distribution of requests for comment from other responsible or affected agencies and 
interested organizations. 
 
Based upon the attached environmental assessment, including the proposed mitigation 
measures, staff has determined that there is no evidence in the record that the project may 
generate any new significant effects on the environment and recommends adoption of a mitigated 
negative declaration for this project.  The findings of the mitigated negative declaration are that, 







Planning Commission  
December 13, 2023 
 


5 
 


with the proposed mitigation measures for Greenhouse Gases, Geology and Soils, and Tribal 
Cultural Resources, proposed Use Permit 23-02 will not create any significant impacts to the 
environment, including the neighborhood or vicinity.  As a result, the adoption of a mitigated 
negative declaration is appropriate in accordance with the provisions of CEQA.  The proposed 
mitigation measures are included as project conditions of approval.   
 
Recommended Actions:  
 
Following the close of the public hearing adopt a resolution of the Planning Commission of the 
City of Yuba City approving Environmental Assessment 23-09 by adopting a mitigated negative 
declaration, subject to the proposed conditions of approval and mitigation measures, and 
approving Use Permit 23-02 for a 60-foot-high cell tower and related ground equipment on an 
approximately 1,000 square foot leased area.  Located at 223 Clark Avenue (a portion of 
Assessor’s Parcel Number 53-174-001). 
 
Attachments: 
 


1. Location Map 
2. Planning Commission Resolution (UP 23-02) 


• Exhibit A:    UP 23-02 Site plan and tower elevations 
• Exhibit B:    UP 23-02 Mitigation Measures and Conditions of Approval 


3. Photo simulations of the completed tower 
4. Existing and Proposed Coverage Maps 
5. Noise Study   
6. Environmental Assessment 23-09 and the Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program. 







ATTACHMENT 1







Service Layer Credits: Source: Esri, Maxar,
GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus
DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the
GIS User Community


S C
LA


RK
 AV


E


JULIE DR


MORTON ST


CLINTON ST


MARCIA AVE


Monopole Cell TowerMonopole Cell Tower


!I


Use Permit 23-02 | Location MapUse Permit 23-02 | Location Map


Project Site







ATTACHMENT 2







 1 


PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. PC 23-27 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF YUBA 
CITY APPROVING ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT 23-09 BY ADOPTING 
A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS 
OF APPROVAL AND MITIGATION MEASURES, AND APPROVING USE 
PERMIT 23-02 FOR A 60-FOOT-HIGH CELL TOWER AND RELATED 
GROUND EQUIPMENT, LOCATED AT 233 CLARK AVENUE, BEHIND AN 
EXISTING COMMERCIAL BUILDING.  A PORTION OF ASSESSOR’S 
PARCEL NUMBER  53-174-001. 


 
WHEREAS, the City received an application for Use Permit (UP) 23-02 to construct a 60-


foot-high cell tower that will be camouflaged as a tree, and related ground based operating 
equipment on an approximately 1,000 square foot lease site; and  


 
WHEREAS, this property is within Yuba City’s city limits and the property owner wished 


to further develop their property, and the property is provided with full City services; and 
 


 
WHEREAS, a review of the General Plan, and an interpretation of the Zoning Regulations 


determined that proposed UP 23-02 will be an appropriate use subject to the conditions of 
approval and mitigation measures, provided a use permit is first approved, within the 
Neighborhood Commercial General Plan land use designation and the proposal meets all of the 
C-1 Zone District development standards; and 


 
WHEREAS, the City on November 22, 2023, published a legal notice and a public hearing 


notice was mailed to each property owner within at least 300 feet of the project site in compliance 
with State law concerning the Planning Commission’s consideration on December 13, 2023; and 
 


WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing on December 
13, 2023, and considered all of the project and environmental information presented by staff, 
public testimony, and all of the background information; and 


 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed related Environmental Assessment 23-


09 which was prepared for this use permit considering a Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) 
prepared for the project, which concluded that this project, with the proposed mitigation measures 
and conditions of approval, will not generate any significant environmental impacts; and 


 
 
WHEREAS, after deliberation and consideration of all the relevant items, the Planning 


Commission now desires to approve UP 23-02; and 
 
WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Resolution have occurred. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED the Planning Commission of the City of Yuba 


City as follows: 
 
1. Recitals.  The Planning Commission hereby specifically finds that all of the facts set forth in 


the recitals above are true and correct and incorporated herein. 
 







 2 


2. CEQA Finding.  The Planning Commission finds and determines that there is no substantial 
evidence in the record that UP 23-02, subject to its conditions of approval and mitigation 
measures, may have a significant effect on the environment as identified by the MND and 
finds that an environmental assessment/initial study was prepared for the Project in 
accordance with the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
Guidelines, and reflects the Planning Commission’s independent judgment and analysis.  The 
process included the distribution of requests for comments from other responsible or affected 
agencies and interested organizations.  Preparation of Environmental Assessment 23-09 
necessitated a thorough review of the proposed project and relevant environmental issues 
and considered previously prepared environmental and technical studies.  While the proposed 
project could have a potentially significant effect on the environment, based on its independent 
judgement and analysis the Planning Commission finds that feasible mitigation measures or 
alternatives have been incorporated into the project in order to avoid the effects to a point 
where clearly no significant effect on the environment will occur, and there is no substantial 
evidence in the record that this Project may have any direct, indirect or cumulative effects on 
the environment that are potentially significant. The proposed project will not result in any 
adverse effects which fall within the “Mandatory Findings of Significance” contained in Section 
15065 of the State CEQA Guidelines. The project-specific mitigation measures included in the 
project to avoid potentially significant effects are set forth in the attached Initial Study/Mitigated 
Negative Declaration and accompanying Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program.  With 
the project specific mitigations imposed, there is no substantial evidence in the record that 
this project may have significant direct, indirect, or cumulative effects on the environment.  As 
such, the Planning Commission finds and determines that in light of the entire administrative 
record and the substantial evidence before it, the project has been adequately 
environmentally assessed as required by CEQA per Environmental Assessment 23-09.   


 
3.  Adoption of the Mitigated Negative Declaration and Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting   


Program.  Based on the foregoing, the Planning Commission adopts the Mitigated Negative 
Declaration prepared for UP 23-02 including the associated Mitigation Monitoring and 
Reporting Program, as the project will not result in any significant, adverse environmental 
impacts with the mitigations proposed.  The Yuba City Development Services Department is 
located at 1201 Civic Center Boulevard, Yuba City, CA 95993, and is designated as the 
custodian of the documents and other materials that constitute the record of the proceedings 
upon which the decision is based.  The Planning Commission further authorizes the Director, 
or designee, to execute and file with the Sutter County Clerk, as appropriate, a Notice of 
Determination for approval of the project that complies with CEQA Guidelines. 


 
4.  Use Permit Findings.  Based upon analysis of the Use Permit application and subject to the 


applicant’s compliance with the conditions of approval and mitigation measures, the following 
required findings of Section 8-5.7001(C) of the Municipal Code are made: 


 
a.  The proposal is consistent with the General Plan: 


 
Evidence:  While General Plan text and policies do not directly address cell towers, 
various General Plan Elements discuss the City as being a compact community with full 
services being available in all areas and neighborhoods that increases the ability of people 
to live and work in the City.  In more recent years cell phone use has become an integral 
part of the functioning of the City and its neighborhoods. Telecommunications facilities are 
now as necessary as electric and phone lines and sewer and water lines.  The theme is 
that these basic infrastructure facilities are necessary in all neighborhoods, retail centers 







 3 


and places of employment.  The General Plan does not exclude infrastructure facilities 
from any area, recognizing they are needed in all parts of the City.  This is implemented 
in the Zoning Regulations, which are designed to implement the General Plan, by not 
prohibiting these utilities but instead provides criteria for development of these facilities.  
In this case the proposed telecommunications facility has been designed to fit into the 
area it will be located with a height limit determined by the Zoning Regulations, tower/tree 
design, solid and vegetative screening, and noise attenuation. 
 
On a more technical scale, the proposed cell tower was interpreted to be an allowed use 
subject to a use permit in the C-1 Zone District based on the provisions of the Zoning 
Regulations for telecommunication facilities.  The C-1 Zone District by definition is 
consistent with the Neighborhood Commercial General Plan designation, and that the 
environmental document and staff report prepared for the proposal did not identify any 
general plan inconsistencies, and that the proposal meets all of the City’s development 
standards and design criteria.  As such the proposal is consistent with the General Plan. 
 


b.  The site for the proposed use is adequate in size and shape to accommodate said use, 
public access, parking and loading, yards, landscaping, and other features required by 
this Chapter (Zoning Regulations). 


 
Evidence: The proposal meets all City standards and design criteria.  This includes a 
design making the cell tower resemble a tree, which improves the tower’s aesthetics, and 
the masonry wall and other solid fencing that limits visibility of the tower base and related 
ground equipment.  The noise study prepared for the project concluded that noise should 
not be a significant factor from the noise generated by the project with further noise 
reduction from the construction of an eight-foot masonry wall along the east side of the 
site.  The landscaping standard is met by the planting of a vegetative hedge along the 
eastern property line.  The tower and equipment do not require connections to the City’s 
water and wastewater collection system, does not generate significant traffic and needs 
only a minor driveway access for occasional service workers.   As such, the site is of 
adequate size and shape and has good access.   
 


c. The streets serving the site are adequate to carry the quantity of traffic generated by the 
proposed use. 


 
 Evidence: The site is portion of a previously developed commercial property that is 


accessed by a private driveway over an offsite parcel which will be paved, and irrevocable 
access will be guaranteed to Clark Avenue.  Clark Avenue is designated in the General 
Plan as a collector street.  The cell tower does not require public access but will be 
accessed by employees for occasional maintenance.  Except during the short tower 
construction period, Clark Avenue will not be impacted by additional traffic to the facility. 


 
d. The site design, design of the building, and scale of the project will complement 


neighboring facilities. 
 
Evidence: The potential incompatibility between the proposed cell tower and the 
neighboring uses (primarily nearby residences) will better blend in with the local aesthetics 
as the tower is designed to look like a tree. The accompanying ground equipment would 
potentially be visible from only one neighboring residence, but that visibility will be 
eliminated by the construction of a masonry wall along the east side of the site and a 







 4 


landscaping hedge along the property line.  A noise study also concluded that noise from 
the operation of the cell tower and testing of an emergency generator would remain within 
acceptable levels for neighboring residents and construction of an eight-foot masonry wall 
will further reduce the noise.  As such the aesthetics and noise from the cell tower is 
conditioned and mitigated to be compatible with the neighborhood. 


 
e.  The project will not be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, comfort, and general 


welfare of persons residing or working in the vicinity. 
 
Evidence: Based on the initial study prepared for the Project, which considers impacts on 
this site and neighboring residences, and neighboring commercial properties, and with the 
implementation of the C-1 Zone District Development Standards and the required 
conditions of approval and mitigation measures, there will be no significant environmental 
impacts for aesthetics, cultural resources, greenhouse gases and geology and soils 
created by the completion of this Project on neighboring uses and their employees and 
customers.   


 
5. Flood Finding. There is adequate flood protection for the project as required by Title 6, Chapter 


9, Article 6 of the Municipal Code. 
 
Evidence:  This proposal complies with this finding as the Sutter Butte Flood Control Agency 
(SBFCA) is the “Local Flood Management Agency” for the Sutter-Butte Basin and as such, 
has the responsibility to prepare an annual report demonstrating adequate progress as 
defined in California Government Code Section 645007 (a).  SBFCA has prepared Adequate 
Progress Report Updates for ULOP and transmitted them to the Central Valley Flood 
Protection Board.  As such this site has adequate flood protection.  Additionally, the City has 
imposed conditions on the Use Permit that will protect property within the area to the urban 
level in urban areas and urbanizing areas.  


 
6. Approval of Use Permit 23-02. The Planning Commission, based on Environmental 


Assessment 23-09 and the list of identified mitigation measures which have been made 
conditions of approval of the project, determines the project will not have a significant impact 
on the environment, approves UP 23-02 for a Verizon cell tower and associated ground 
equipment, as shown in Exhibit A, subject to the conditions of approval and mitigation 
measures as provided in Exhibit B. 


 
7.    Effective Date of Resolution.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately.   
 
The foregoing Resolution was introduced at the regular meeting of the Planning Commission on 
December 13, 2023, by Commissioner _______ who moved its adoption, which motion was 
seconded by Commissioner ________ and carried by the following vote: 
 
Ayes:  
 
Noes:  
  
Absent:     
 
Recused: 
 







 5 


By order of the Planning Commission of the City of Yuba City. 
 
  
 
 


Jackie Sillman, Planning Commission Chair 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
Benjamin Moody, Secretary to the Planning Commission 
 
 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
 


Exhibit A:    UP 23-02 Site plan and tower elevations 
Exhibit B:    UP 23-02 Mitigation Measures and Conditions of Approval 







EXHIBIT A







VICINITY MAP


SHEET INDEX


CODE COMPLIANCEPROJECT DESCRIPTION


SHEET DESCRIPTION REV


SHEET TITLE:


T-1


SHEET NUMBER:


HONKERS


223 CLARK AVENUE
YUBA CITY, CA 95991


2
7
7
0
 
S


H
A


D
E


L
A


N
D


S
 
D


R
I
V


E
,
 
B


L
D


G
 
1
1


W
A


L
N


U
T


 
C


R
E


E
K


,
 
C


A
 
9
4
5
9
8


T
H


E
S


E
 
P


L
A


N
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


,
 
A


S
 
I
N


S
T


R
U


M
E


N
T


S
 
O


F
 
S


E
R


V
I
C


E
,
 
A


R
E


 
A


N
D


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
R


E
M


A
I
N


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


P
E


R
T


Y
 
O


F
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E


E
N


G
I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
W


H
E


T
H


E
R


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
F


O
R


 
W


H
I
C


H
 
T


H
E


Y
 
A


R
E


 
M


A
D


E
 
A


R
E


 
E


X
E


C
U


T
E


D
 
O


R
 
N


O
T


.
 
 
T


H
E


S
E


D
R


A
W


I
N


G
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
N


O
T


 
B


E
 
U


S
E


D
 
B


Y
 
A


N
Y


 
P


E
R


S
O


N
 
O


R
 
E


N
T


I
T


Y
 
O


N
 
O


T
H


E
R


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
W


I
T


H
 
O


U
T


 
P


R
I
O


R


W
R


I
T


T
E


N
 
C


O
N


S
E


N
T


 
O


F
 
T


H
E


 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
.
 
 
C


o
p


y
r
i
g


h
t
 
 
 
 
 
2


0
0


9
,
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E
 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
 
A


L
L


 
R


I
G


H
T


S
 
R


E
S


E
R


V
E


D
.


C


8
4


4
5


 
S


i
e


r
r
a


 
C


o
l
l
e


g
e


 
B


l
v
d


,
 
S


u
i
t
e


 
E


 
G


r
a


n
i
t
e


 
B


a
y
,
 
C


A
 
9


5
7


4
6


C
o


n
t
a


c
t
:
 
K


e
v
i
n


 
S


o
r
e


n
s
e


n
 
 
P


h
o


n
e


:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
3


0


E
-
M


a
i
l
:
 
k
e


v
i
n


@
s
t
r
e


a
m


l
i
n


e
e


n
g


.
c
o


m
 
 
F


a
x
:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
4


1


PROJECT INFORMATION


HONKERS
223 CLARK AVENUE, YUBA CITY, CA 95991


MDG LOCATION ID: 5000227263


SCALE: N/A


TN


SITE LOCATION


CALL
"CALL BEFORE YOU DIG"


811


At all services & grounding trenches, provide


" WARNING" tape at 12" below grade.


NATIONWIDE UNDERGROUND SERVICE ALERT


DESIGN CRITERIA


TESTS AND SPECIAL INSPECTIONS


·


·


·


·


·


·


·


·


PROJECT ID: 16097049











TN


SHEET TITLE:


A-1


SHEET NUMBER:


HONKERS


223 CLARK AVENUE
YUBA CITY, CA 95991


2
7
7
0
 
S


H
A


D
E


L
A


N
D


S
 
D


R
I
V


E
,
 
B


L
D


G
 
1
1


W
A


L
N


U
T


 
C


R
E


E
K


,
 
C


A
 
9
4
5
9
8


T
H


E
S


E
 
P


L
A


N
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


,
 
A


S
 
I
N


S
T


R
U


M
E


N
T


S
 
O


F
 
S


E
R


V
I
C


E
,
 
A


R
E


 
A


N
D


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
R


E
M


A
I
N


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


P
E


R
T


Y
 
O


F
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E


E
N


G
I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
W


H
E


T
H


E
R


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
F


O
R


 
W


H
I
C


H
 
T


H
E


Y
 
A


R
E


 
M


A
D


E
 
A


R
E


 
E


X
E


C
U


T
E


D
 
O


R
 
N


O
T


.
 
 
T


H
E


S
E


D
R


A
W


I
N


G
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
N


O
T


 
B


E
 
U


S
E


D
 
B


Y
 
A


N
Y


 
P


E
R


S
O


N
 
O


R
 
E


N
T


I
T


Y
 
O


N
 
O


T
H


E
R


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
W


I
T


H
 
O


U
T


 
P


R
I
O


R


W
R


I
T


T
E


N
 
C


O
N


S
E


N
T


 
O


F
 
T


H
E


 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
.
 
 
C


o
p


y
r
i
g


h
t
 
 
 
 
 
2


0
0


9
,
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E
 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
 
A


L
L


 
R


I
G


H
T


S
 
R


E
S


E
R


V
E


D
.


C


8
4


4
5


 
S


i
e


r
r
a


 
C


o
l
l
e


g
e


 
B


l
v
d


,
 
S


u
i
t
e


 
E


 
G


r
a


n
i
t
e


 
B


a
y
,
 
C


A
 
9


5
7


4
6


C
o


n
t
a


c
t
:
 
K


e
v
i
n


 
S


o
r
e


n
s
e


n
 
 
P


h
o


n
e


:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
3


0


E
-
M


a
i
l
:
 
k
e


v
i
n


@
s
t
r
e


a
m


l
i
n


e
e


n
g


.
c
o


m
 
 
F


a
x
:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
4


1


CALL
"CALL BEFORE YOU DIG"


811


At all services & grounding trenches, provide


" WARNING" tape at 12" below grade.


NATIONWIDE UNDERGROUND SERVICE ALERT







SHEET TITLE:


SHEET NUMBER:


HONKERS


223 CLARK AVENUE
YUBA CITY, CA 95991


2
7
7
0
 
S


H
A


D
E


L
A


N
D


S
 
D


R
I
V


E
,
 
B


L
D


G
 
1
1


W
A


L
N


U
T


 
C


R
E


E
K


,
 
C


A
 
9
4
5
9
8


T
H


E
S


E
 
P


L
A


N
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


,
 
A


S
 
I
N


S
T


R
U


M
E


N
T


S
 
O


F
 
S


E
R


V
I
C


E
,
 
A


R
E


 
A


N
D


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
R


E
M


A
I
N


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


P
E


R
T


Y
 
O


F
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E


E
N


G
I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
W


H
E


T
H


E
R


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
F


O
R


 
W


H
I
C


H
 
T


H
E


Y
 
A


R
E


 
M


A
D


E
 
A


R
E


 
E


X
E


C
U


T
E


D
 
O


R
 
N


O
T


.
 
 
T


H
E


S
E


D
R


A
W


I
N


G
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
N


O
T


 
B


E
 
U


S
E


D
 
B


Y
 
A


N
Y


 
P


E
R


S
O


N
 
O


R
 
E


N
T


I
T


Y
 
O


N
 
O


T
H


E
R


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
W


I
T


H
 
O


U
T


 
P


R
I
O


R


W
R


I
T


T
E


N
 
C


O
N


S
E


N
T


 
O


F
 
T


H
E


 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
.
 
 
C


o
p


y
r
i
g


h
t
 
 
 
 
 
2


0
0


9
,
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E
 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
 
A


L
L


 
R


I
G


H
T


S
 
R


E
S


E
R


V
E


D
.


C


8
4


4
5


 
S


i
e


r
r
a


 
C


o
l
l
e


g
e


 
B


l
v
d


,
 
S


u
i
t
e


 
E


 
G


r
a


n
i
t
e


 
B


a
y
,
 
C


A
 
9


5
7


4
6


C
o


n
t
a


c
t
:
 
K


e
v
i
n


 
S


o
r
e


n
s
e


n
 
 
P


h
o


n
e


:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
3


0


E
-
M


a
i
l
:
 
k
e


v
i
n


@
s
t
r
e


a
m


l
i
n


e
e


n
g


.
c
o


m
 
 
F


a
x
:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
4


1


A-2


TN







SHEET TITLE:


A-3


SHEET NUMBER:


HONKERS


223 CLARK AVENUE
YUBA CITY, CA 95991


2
7
7
0
 
S


H
A


D
E


L
A


N
D


S
 
D


R
I
V


E
,
 
B


L
D


G
 
1
1


W
A


L
N


U
T


 
C


R
E


E
K


,
 
C


A
 
9
4
5
9
8


T
H


E
S


E
 
P


L
A


N
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


,
 
A


S
 
I
N


S
T


R
U


M
E


N
T


S
 
O


F
 
S


E
R


V
I
C


E
,
 
A


R
E


 
A


N
D


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
R


E
M


A
I
N


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


P
E


R
T


Y
 
O


F
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E


E
N


G
I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
W


H
E


T
H


E
R


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
F


O
R


 
W


H
I
C


H
 
T


H
E


Y
 
A


R
E


 
M


A
D


E
 
A


R
E


 
E


X
E


C
U


T
E


D
 
O


R
 
N


O
T


.
 
 
T


H
E


S
E


D
R


A
W


I
N


G
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
N


O
T


 
B


E
 
U


S
E


D
 
B


Y
 
A


N
Y


 
P


E
R


S
O


N
 
O


R
 
E


N
T


I
T


Y
 
O


N
 
O


T
H


E
R


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
W


I
T


H
 
O


U
T


 
P


R
I
O


R


W
R


I
T


T
E


N
 
C


O
N


S
E


N
T


 
O


F
 
T


H
E


 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
.
 
 
C


o
p


y
r
i
g


h
t
 
 
 
 
 
2


0
0


9
,
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E
 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
 
A


L
L


 
R


I
G


H
T


S
 
R


E
S


E
R


V
E


D
.


C


8
4


4
5


 
S


i
e


r
r
a


 
C


o
l
l
e


g
e


 
B


l
v
d


,
 
S


u
i
t
e


 
E


 
G


r
a


n
i
t
e


 
B


a
y
,
 
C


A
 
9


5
7


4
6


C
o


n
t
a


c
t
:
 
K


e
v
i
n


 
S


o
r
e


n
s
e


n
 
 
P


h
o


n
e


:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
3


0


E
-
M


a
i
l
:
 
k
e


v
i
n


@
s
t
r
e


a
m


l
i
n


e
e


n
g


.
c
o


m
 
 
F


a
x
:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
4


1


TNTN







SHEET TITLE:


A-4


SHEET NUMBER:


HONKERS


223 CLARK AVENUE
YUBA CITY, CA 95991


2
7
7
0
 
S


H
A


D
E


L
A


N
D


S
 
D


R
I
V


E
,
 
B


L
D


G
 
1
1


W
A


L
N


U
T


 
C


R
E


E
K


,
 
C


A
 
9
4
5
9
8


T
H


E
S


E
 
P


L
A


N
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


,
 
A


S
 
I
N


S
T


R
U


M
E


N
T


S
 
O


F
 
S


E
R


V
I
C


E
,
 
A


R
E


 
A


N
D


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
R


E
M


A
I
N


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


P
E


R
T


Y
 
O


F
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E


E
N


G
I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
W


H
E


T
H


E
R


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
F


O
R


 
W


H
I
C


H
 
T


H
E


Y
 
A


R
E


 
M


A
D


E
 
A


R
E


 
E


X
E


C
U


T
E


D
 
O


R
 
N


O
T


.
 
 
T


H
E


S
E


D
R


A
W


I
N


G
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
N


O
T


 
B


E
 
U


S
E


D
 
B


Y
 
A


N
Y


 
P


E
R


S
O


N
 
O


R
 
E


N
T


I
T


Y
 
O


N
 
O


T
H


E
R


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
W


I
T


H
 
O


U
T


 
P


R
I
O


R


W
R


I
T


T
E


N
 
C


O
N


S
E


N
T


 
O


F
 
T


H
E


 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
.
 
 
C


o
p


y
r
i
g


h
t
 
 
 
 
 
2


0
0


9
,
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E
 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
 
A


L
L


 
R


I
G


H
T


S
 
R


E
S


E
R


V
E


D
.


C


8
4


4
5


 
S


i
e


r
r
a


 
C


o
l
l
e


g
e


 
B


l
v
d


,
 
S


u
i
t
e


 
E


 
G


r
a


n
i
t
e


 
B


a
y
,
 
C


A
 
9


5
7


4
6


C
o


n
t
a


c
t
:
 
K


e
v
i
n


 
S


o
r
e


n
s
e


n
 
 
P


h
o


n
e


:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
3


0


E
-
M


a
i
l
:
 
k
e


v
i
n


@
s
t
r
e


a
m


l
i
n


e
e


n
g


.
c
o


m
 
 
F


a
x
:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
4


1







SHEET TITLE:


A-5


SHEET NUMBER:


HONKERS


223 CLARK AVENUE
YUBA CITY, CA 95991


2
7
7
0
 
S


H
A


D
E


L
A


N
D


S
 
D


R
I
V


E
,
 
B


L
D


G
 
1
1


W
A


L
N


U
T


 
C


R
E


E
K


,
 
C


A
 
9
4
5
9
8


T
H


E
S


E
 
P


L
A


N
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


,
 
A


S
 
I
N


S
T


R
U


M
E


N
T


S
 
O


F
 
S


E
R


V
I
C


E
,
 
A


R
E


 
A


N
D


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
R


E
M


A
I
N


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


P
E


R
T


Y
 
O


F
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E


E
N


G
I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
W


H
E


T
H


E
R


 
T


H
E


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
F


O
R


 
W


H
I
C


H
 
T


H
E


Y
 
A


R
E


 
M


A
D


E
 
A


R
E


 
E


X
E


C
U


T
E


D
 
O


R
 
N


O
T


.
 
 
T


H
E


S
E


D
R


A
W


I
N


G
S


 
A


N
D


 
S


P
E


C
I
F


I
C


A
T


I
O


N
S


 
S


H
A


L
L


 
N


O
T


 
B


E
 
U


S
E


D
 
B


Y
 
A


N
Y


 
P


E
R


S
O


N
 
O


R
 
E


N
T


I
T


Y
 
O


N
 
O


T
H


E
R


 
P


R
O


J
E


C
T


S
 
W


I
T


H
 
O


U
T


 
P


R
I
O


R


W
R


I
T


T
E


N
 
C


O
N


S
E


N
T


 
O


F
 
T


H
E


 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
.
 
 
C


o
p


y
r
i
g


h
t
 
 
 
 
 
2


0
0


9
,
 
S


T
R


E
A


M
L


I
N


E
 
E


N
G


I
N


E
E


R
I
N


G
 
A


N
D


 
D


E
S


I
G


N
 
I
N


C
.
 
 
A


L
L


 
R


I
G


H
T


S
 
R


E
S


E
R


V
E


D
.


C


8
4


4
5


 
S


i
e


r
r
a


 
C


o
l
l
e


g
e


 
B


l
v
d


,
 
S


u
i
t
e


 
E


 
G


r
a


n
i
t
e


 
B


a
y
,
 
C


A
 
9


5
7


4
6


C
o


n
t
a


c
t
:
 
K


e
v
i
n


 
S


o
r
e


n
s
e


n
 
 
P


h
o


n
e


:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
3


0


E
-
M


a
i
l
:
 
k
e


v
i
n


@
s
t
r
e


a
m


l
i
n


e
e


n
g


.
c
o


m
 
 
F


a
x
:
 
9


1
6


-
6


6
0


-
1


9
4


1







EXHIBIT B







1 
 


CITY OF YUBA CITY 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 


USE PERMIT 23-02 
DECEMBER 13, 2023 


 
HONKERS CELL TOWER 


APN: 53-174-001 
 


NOTICE TO PROJECT APPLICANT 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Government Code Section 66020(d)(1), the imposition 
of fees, dedication, reservations or exactions for this project are subject to protest by the 
project applicant at the time of approval or conditional approval of the development or within 
ninety (90) calendar days after the date of imposition of fees, dedications, reservation, or 
exactions imposed on the development project. This notice does not apply to those fees, 
dedications, reservations, or exactions which were previously imposed and duly noticed; or, 
where no notice was previously required under the provisions of Government Code Section 
66020(d)(1) in effect before January 1, 1997. 


 
IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ CAREFULLY 
 
Please note that this project is subject to a variety of discretionary conditions of approval. 
These include conditions based on adopted City plans and policies, those determined 
through the use permit review and environmental assessment essential to mitigate adverse 
effects on the environment including the health, safety, and welfare of the community, and 
recommended conditions for development that are not essential to health, safety, and 
welfare, but would on the whole enhance the project and its relationship to the neighborhood 
and environment. 
 
Discretionary conditions of approval may be appealed. All code requirements, however, are 
mandatory and may only be modified by variance, provided the findings can be made. 
 
All discretionary conditions of approval will ultimately be deemed mandatory unless appealed 
by the applicant to the City Council within 10 days after the decision by the Planning 
Commission. In the event you wish to appeal the Planning Commission’s decision or 
discretionary conditions of approval, you may do so by filing a written appeal with the City 
Clerk. The appeal shall state the grounds for the appeal and wherein the Commission failed 
to conform to the requirements of the zoning ordinance. This should include identification of 
the decision or action appealed and specific reasons why you believe the decision or action 
appealed should not be upheld. 
 
Approval of this use permit shall be considered null and void in the event of failure by the 
applicant and/or the authorized representative, architect, engineer, or designer to disclose 
and delineate all facts and information relating to the subject property and the proposed 
development. 
 
Approval of this use permit may become null and void in the event that development is not 
completed in accordance with all the conditions and requirements imposed on this use 
permit, the zoning ordinance, and all City standards and specifications. This use permit is 
granted, and the conditions imposed, based upon the application submittal provided by the 
applicant, including any operational statement. The application is material to the issuance of 







2 
 


this use permit. Unless the conditions of approval specifically require operation inconsistent 
with the application, a new or revised use permit is required if the operation of this 
establishment changes or becomes inconsistent with the application. Failure to operate in 
accordance with the conditions and requirements imposed may result in revocation of the 
use permit or any other enforcement remedy available under the law. The City shall not 
assume responsibility for any deletions or omissions resulting from the use permit review 
process or for additions or alterations to any construction or building plans not specifically 
submitted and reviewed and approved pursuant to this use permit or subsequent 
amendments or revisions. These conditions are conditions imposed solely upon the use 
permit, and are not conditions imposed on the City or any third party. Likewise, imposition of 
conditions to ensure compliance with federal, state, or local laws and regulations does not 
preclude any other type of compliance enforcement.   
 
These conditions are applicable to any person or entity making use of this use permit, and 
references to “developer” or “applicant” herein also include any applicant, property owner, 
owner, leasee, operator, or any other person or entity making use of this use permit. 
 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
 


1. To the furthest extent allowed by law, applicant/property owner shall indemnify, hold 
harmless and defend City and each of its officers, officials, employees, consultants, 
agents and volunteers from any and all loss, liability, fines, penalties, forfeitures, 
damages and costs (including attorney's fees, litigation expenses and administrative 
record preparation costs) arising from, resulting from, or in connection with any Third-
Party Action (as hereinafter defined).  The term “Third Party Action” collectively 
means any legal action or other proceeding instituted by (i) a third party or parties, or 
(ii) a governmental body, agency or official other than the City, that:  (a) challenges 
or contests any or all of these Conditions of Approval or any approval associated with 
entitlements associated with the project (collectively “Approvals”); or (b) claims or 
alleges a violation of CEQA or another law in connection with the Approvals by the 
City, or the grant, issuance or approval by the City of any or all 
Approvals.  Applicant’s/property owner’s obligations under this paragraph shall apply 
regardless of whether City or any of its officers, officials, employees, consultants, 
agents or volunteers are actively or passively negligent, but shall not apply to any 
loss, liability, fines, penalties forfeitures, costs or damages caused solely by the 
active negligence or willful misconduct of the City or any of its officers, officials, 
employees, agents or volunteers.  The provisions of this section shall survive any 
termination, revocation, overturn, or expiration of an approval.  
 
Nothing in this section shall obligate the City to defend any claim and the City shall 
not be required to pay or perform any settlement arising from any such claim not 
defended by the City, unless the City approves the settlement in writing. Nor shall the 
City be prohibited from independently defending any claim, and if the City does 
decide to independently defend a claim, the applicant/property owner shall 
be responsible for City’s attorneys’ fees, expenses of litigation, and costs for that 
independent defense, including the costs of preparing any required administrative 
record.  Applicant/property owner shall submit all documents filed in the Third-Party 
Action for review and approval of the City Attorney prior to filing of said documents 
on behalf of the City. 
 
The City may, at any time, require the applicant to reimburse the City for costs that 
have been, or which the City reasonably anticipates will be, incurred by the City 







3 
 


during the course of processing or defending any Third-Party Actions.  The City shall 
provide applicant/property owner with an invoice detailing all reasonable costs 
incurred.  Applicant/property owner shall tender to the City payment-in-full of all 
reasonable and necessary costs within thirty (30) days from the date upon the 
invoice.  Applicant/property owner shall contact the City within a reasonable time to 
arrange any extension of the thirty (30) day time period for payment-in-full of the 
invoiced amount.  Applicant/property owner further acknowledges and agrees, failure 
to timely tender payment-in-full to the City shall be considered a breach and non-
compliance with the conditions of approval for the project.  Applicant/property owner 
shall also be required, upon request of the City, to deposit two month’s estimated 
costs anticipated by the City to be incurred, which may be used by the City as a draw 
down account to maintain a positive balance pending tender of payment by 
Applicant/property owner as noted herein. 


 
2. Approval of Use Permit (UP) 23-02 shall be null and void without further action if: 1) 


the project has not been substantially commenced within two years of the approval 
date of UP 23-02; or 2) that a request for an extension of time, pursuant to Section 
8-5.7106 of the Yuba City Municipal Code (YCMC) has not been submitted to the 
City.  
 


3. The telecommunications pole and ground equipment facility shall comply with all 
applicable City Design Guidelines and shall be developed and constructed 
substantially per the plans approved by the Planning Commission on December 13, 
2023. The facility shall operate pursuant to the Project Description as described in 
the Planning Staff Report dated 12/13/2023, as approved by the Planning 
Commission.  


 
4. The development and operation of the project shall comply with all CEQA mitigation 


measures identified in Environmental Assessment 23-09, dated November, 2023, 
and all previously applicable environmental documents that pertain to the project.  
 


5. The applicant and/or owner is required to perform regular upkeep and maintenance 
of the total facility, including but not limited to the faux branches.  


 
6. A five-foot wide planter shall be installed along the east and a portion of the southern 


property line that abuts the residentially zoned properties.  The planter shall be 
planted with a hedge type plant, approved by the Development Services Director, 
that will provide at least a six-foot high visual barrier between this and the neighboring 
residential property.  The hedge shall be maintained by the applicant and/or owner 
as provided in Sec.8-5.6003(b)(2) of the Zoning Regulations. 


 
7. The driveway providing access to the lease area, as well as a dedicated parking 


space for the site must be paved of concrete and/or asphalt, or a material approved 
by the Public Works Director. 
 


8. The development and operation of the project shall comply with all local, state, and 
federal codes (including Building and Fire codes) and local development standards.  
 


• The Developer or Representative shall obtain an Encroachment Permit from 
the City prior to performing any work within public rights of way. 
 







4 
 


9. Cross access easements shall be reserved in deeds or other acceptable format to 
facilitate all shared underground utilities, ingress and egress, parking, drainage, 
refuse collection, landscaping, and the maintenance thereof to the benefit of both 
parcels.  The document is to be recorded and tied to the two parcels. 
 


 
MITIGATION MEASURES 


 
Aesthetics Mitigation Measure 1:  An eight-foot-high solid screen shall be constructed 
around the perimeter of the leased site.  The east wall shall consist of solid masonry, as 
required by Ordinance.  The other three sides shall consist of a permanent solid material, as 
approved by the Development Services Director. 
 
Aesthetics Mitigation Measure 2:  The tower shall be painted dark brown or black. 
 
Paleontological Mitigation Measure 1:  This Mitigation Measure shall be placed as a note 
on the Demolition and Grading Plans.  If paleontological resources are found, the 
construction manager shall halt all activity and immediately contact the Development 
Services Department at 530-822-4700. 
Mitigation shall be conducted as follows:  


1. Identify and evaluate paleontological resources by intense field survey where impacts 
are considered high;  


2.  Assess effects on identified sites;  
3. Consult with the institutional/academic paleontologists conducting research 


investigations within the geological formations that are slated to be impacted;  
4.  Obtain comments from the researchers;  
5. Comply with researchers’ recommendations to address any significant adverse effects 


were determined by the City to be feasible.  
In considering any suggested mitigation proposed by the consulting paleontologist, the City’s 
Community Development Department Staff shall determine whether avoidance is necessary 
and feasible in light of factors such as the nature of the find, project design, costs, Specific 
or General Plan policies and land use assumptions, and other considerations. If avoidance 
is unnecessary or infeasible, other appropriate measures (e.g., data recovery) shall be 
instituted. Work may proceed on other parts of the project site while mitigation for 
paleontological resources is carried out. 
 


 
Tribal Cultural Resources Mitigation 1: Post Ground Disturbance A minimum of seven 
days prior to beginning earthwork, clearing, and grubbing, or other soil disturbing activities, 
the applicant shall notify lead agency of the proposed earthwork start-date.  The lead agency 
shall contact the United Auburn Indian Community (UAIC) with the proposed earthwork start-
date and a UAIC Tribal Representative or Tribal Monitor shall be invited to inspect the project 
site, including any soil piles, trenches, or other disturbed areas, within the first five days of 
groundbreaking activity, or as appropriate for the type and size of the project.  During this 
inspection, a UAIC Tribal Representative or Tribal Monitor may provide an on-site meeting 
for construction personnel information on TCRs and workers awareness brochure. 
If any TCRs are encountered during this initial inspection, or during any subsequent 
construction activities, work shall be suspended within 100 feet of the find and measures 
included in the Unanticipated Discoveries Mitigation Measure 2 shall be implemented.  
Preservation in place is the preferred alternative under CEQA and UAIC protocols, and every 
effort must be made to preserve the resources in place, including through project redesign. 







5 
 


The contractor shall implement any measures deemed by CEQA lead agency to be 
necessary and feasible to preserve in place, avoid, or minimize significant effects to the 
resources, including the use of paid Native American Monitor during ground disturbing 
activities. 
 
Tribal Cultural Resources Mitigation 2: Unanticipated Discoveries:  If any suspected 
TCRs are discovered during ground disturbing construction activities, all work shall cease 
within 100 feet of the find, or an agreed upon distance based on the project area and nature 
of the find.  A Tribal Representative from a California Native American Tribe that is 
traditionally and culturally affiliated with a geographic area shall be immediately notified and 
shall determine if the find is a TCR (PRC 21074).  The Tribal Representative will make 
recommendations for further evaluation and treatment as necessary. 
Preservation in place is the preferred alternative under CEQA and UAIC protocols, and every 
effort must be made to preserve the resources in place, including through project redesign.  
Culturally appropriate treatment may be, but is not limited to, processing materials for 
reburial, minimizing handling of cultural objects, leaving objects in place within the 
landscape, returning objects to a location within the project area where they will not be 
subject to future impacts.  The Tribe does not consider curation of TCR’s to be appropriate 
or respectful and request that materials not be permanently curated, unless approved by the 
Tribe. 
The contractor shall implement any measures deemed by the CEQA lead agency to be 
necessary and feasible to preserve in place, avoid, or minimize impacts to the resource, 
including but limited to, facilitating the appropriate tribal treatment of the find, as necessary.  
Treatment that preserves or restores the cultural character and integrity of a Tribal Cultural 
Resource may include Tribal monitoring, culturally appropriate recovery of cultural objects, 
and reburial of cultural objects or cultural soil. 
Work at the discovery location cannot resume until all necessary investigation and evaluation 
of the discovery under the requirements of CEQA, including AB 523 has been satisfied.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







ATTACHMENT 3



























ATTACHMENT 4







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


700 LTE Coverage







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


Existing Serving Site/Sector


- Honkers site is for both coverage 


and usage offload


- Linda Airport site is the only 


serving site to the communities:


Yuba City High school


Park Ave Elem School


St Isidore Catholic School


South Yuba City


Commercials 


Dense residential areas


- Sector 1 & 4 of Linda Airport Site 


serves about 85% of      


these communities.







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


Existing 700 Coverage







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


Predicted 700 Coverage With Honkers







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


Existing 700 Best Server







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


700 Best Server With Honkers







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


AWS Coverage







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


Existing AWS Coverage







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


Predicted AWS Coverage With Honkers







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


AWS Best Server With Honkers







Confidential and proprietary materials for authorized Verizon personnel and outside agencies only. Use, disclosure or 


distribution of this material is not permitted to any unauthorized persons or third parties except by written agreement.


Existing AWS Best Server







ATTACHMENT 5 







October 19, 2023 


Epic Wireless Group 
8700 Auburn Folsom Road, Suite 400 
Granite Bay, CA 95746 


Re: Noise Assessment Letter 
223 Clark Avenue, 
Yuba city, CA 95991 


Honkers is a proposed Verizon telecommunications macro site located in the City of Yuba, CA. Verizon is 
proposing to add a pre-manufactured equipment cabinet with a door mounted heat exchanger and a 
new emergency backup generator. Based on our review of the project drawings and technical 
specifications, the following is a summary of our noise assessment of the proposed equipment. 
“As City of Yuba does not have any Noise Regulation so considering its Neighboring Sutter County 
Noise Ordinance”. 


Per County of Sutter Noise Limits. 


Article 21.5- Noise Control Chapter – 1500-21.5, Section 1500-21.5-050 Exterior Noise Standards 


Table 1 


Table 1500-21.5-1: Exterior Noise Standards 


Noise Level 
Description 


Daytime 
(7:00 a.m. to 10:00p.m.) 


Nighttime 
(10:00p.m. to 7:00 a.m.) 


Hourly Leq, dBA 55 45 


Maximum Level, 
dBA 


70 65 


a) Exterior Noise Violation. It is unlawful for any person at any location within the County to
create any noise which causes the noise levels on a noise sensitive receiving property, when
measured  in  the  designated  exterior noise  measurement  location,  to  exceed
the noise standards specified in Table 1500-21.5-1.


b) Impulsive, Simple and Pure Tone Noise. Each of the noise limits specified in Table 1500-21.5-1
shall be reduced by 5 dBA for recurring impulsive noise, simple or pure tone noise, or for
noises consisting of speech or music.


c) Ambient Noise Level. Noise level standards, which are up to five 5 dBA less than those
specified in Table 1500-21.5-1 may be imposed, based upon determination of existing low
ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the receiving property.


d) Application. The exterior noise level standard shall be applied to the property line of the
receiving property (as measured no more than one foot or as close as practicable inside the
property line).


7430 New Technology Way, Suite 150 
Frederick, MD 21703


(703) 596-1022 Office
(540) 242-3195 Fax


www.waterfordconsultants.com







NOISE ANALYSIS 


Of the supporting equipment planned for this project, Table 2 below presents the primary noise sources 
of concern. 


Table 2 – Supporting Equipment Noise Data 


Noise 
Source 


Equipment 
Type 


Make Model Size 
Manufacturer’s 
Published Noise 


Data (dBA) 


Noise Data 
Reference 
Distance (ft) 


A 
Heat 


Exchanger 
Charles 


Industries 6000W HX -- 65 5 


B Generator Generac SDC030 30 kW 66 [1] 23 


[1] Sound pressure is based on Gen Set with Level 2 sound attenuated enclosure, full-load operating conditions. 


Our review of the package did not reveal any other significant noise sources. The Equipment is proposed 
to be installed on private property behind an 8’-0” high CMU wall to East. 


To properly present this assessment, our noise modeling has assumed following scenarios: 1) the 
generator is operating in the full load condition; 2) Ambient noise is not considered; 3) other existing on- 
site equipment creating noises are ignored and 4) fencing/landscaping currently on site is not taken into 
consideration. 


The site and its adjacent properties are located within the City of Yuba, Neighboring Sutter County and 
the telecommunication site sits within APN 53-174-001. The nearest significant adjacent property line is 
located to the East (APN 53-174-003). The measurement of sound shall be taken from the nearest 
residential property line, towards the source of the sound, which equates to 20 ft from the Cabinet A/C 
unit to property line and 18 ft from the generator to property line. Measurements to the actual 
residences are at larger distances than calculated in this report. 


Generator is for emergency backup during power failure conditions. Generator is exercised once a week 
for one half hour maximum during daytime hours only. A/C unit on the pre-manufactured cabinet can 
run continuously during day and nighttime. Noise levels measurements per Table 2, calculated to the 
property line of the nearest residence, is as follows: 


Noise Source ‘A’ – Cabinet mounted A/C = 37.9 dBA 
Noise Source ‘B’ – Generator = 51.3 dBA 
Combined Sources = Total of 51.49 dBA 


7430 New Technology Way, Suite 150 
Frederick, MD 21703


(703) 596-1022 Office
(540) 242-3195 Fax


www.waterfordconsultants.com







Digitally signed by Robert Lara 
Date: 2023.10.19 21:36:56-04'00' 


Based on Neighboring Sutter County Code of Ordinance, the anticipated noise level of the a/c 
equipment meets the noise standard nighttime levels of 45 dBA’s; and the combined anticipated levels 
of the a/c equipment on the shelter plus the Generator meets the maximum standard daytime noise 
levels of 55 dBA’s. As sound pressure levels attenuate with increasing distance from the sound source, 
noise levels, due to the supporting equipment at all remaining surrounding property lines, are 
anticipated to be less than the County’s requirements, meeting the noise standards outlined in this 
report. 


CONCLUSION 


Based on the project documentation, our noise assessment indicates that the proposed Verizon 
Telecommunications Facility complies with requirements mandated by Neighboring Sutter County Code 
of Ordinance, at all adjacent property lines per stated noise metrics outlined in the requirements above. 
To avoid any misunderstanding, I hereby state that to the best of my knowledge, belief and professional 
judgment, this report represents an accurate appraisal of Verizon equipment, based upon careful 
evaluation of Manufacturer’s data to the extent reasonably possible. 


Please reach out if I can be of further assistance. 


Respectfully Submitted 
For the Firm 


Robert J Lara, 


7430 New Technology Way, Suite 150 
Frederick, MD 21703


(703) 596-1022 Office
(540) 242-3195 Fax


www.waterfordconsultants.com







ATTACHMENT 6 







Environmental Assessment 23-09
for Monopole Cell Tower


Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration for Use 
Permit 23-02 


Please refer to the electronic version provided via email 


or at the link below: 


www.yubacity.net/environmental 



https://www.yubacity.net/environmental





 


 


CITY OF YUBA CITY 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
STAFF REPORT 


 


 


 


Date: December 13, 2023 
 
To: Chairwoman and Members of the Planning Commission 
 
From: Development Services Department 
 
Presentation By: Doug Libby, Deputy Development Services Director 


 
 
Summary 
 
Subject: Zoning Code Amendment 23-01: Revise Section 8-5.6104 of the Yuba City 


Municipal Code regarding parking standards for boats, utility trailers and 
recreational vehicles in residential areas. 


 
Recommendation: A. Conduct a Public Hearing; and  
 
 B. Adopt a Resolution of the Planning Commission of the City of Yuba City 


recommending the City Council find the project is exempt from 
environmental review pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061 (b)(3) 
and recommend the City Council approve Zoning Code Amendment 23-01 
to revise the parking standards for boats, utility trailers and recreational 
vehicles in residential areas    


 
Fiscal Impact: No direct fiscal impact will result from amending the Municipal Code to 


revise the standards discussed.  
 
 
Applicant/Owner: City of Yuba City 
 
Project Location: Applicable Citywide 
 
Background: 
 
Staff periodically brings forward recommended code revisions to incorporate statutory changes 
and other miscellaneous revisions for consideration to keep the Zoning Code contemporary for 
the City’s needs.    
 
Due to comments made by citizens to individual Council members and feedback to Code 
Enforcement, the parking of boats, trailers, and RVs was discussed at City Council workshops on 
January 26, 2023, and September 7, 2023. As a result of Council feedback, staff prepared draft 
Municipal Code revisions to generally allow the parking of a single boat, trailer, or recreational 
vehicle (RVs) within front yard areas of one and two-family residentially zoned areas when in 
compliance with specific standards. 
 







Planning Commission  
December 13, 2023 
 


On October 3, 2023, the City Council unanimously initiated a Municipal Code Amendment to 
revise the standards associated with the parking of boats, trailers and RVs within residential front 
yard areas.  
    
Analysis: 
 
The parking of boats, trailers and RVs within front yard areas within one and two-family (R-1 and 
R-2) zoning districts is not an uncommon sight within the city limits.  
 
Currently, Section 8-5.6104 of the Yuba City Municipal Code requires these items be parked 
behind the front wall of the residence or, in the case of a corner lot, behind the wall of the residence 
facing each street right-of-way. Screening to a height of 6-feet from view of the public right-of-way 
is required. An exception is provided that recreational vehicles used as daily transportation may 
be parked overnight on recognized parking areas. 
 
The question of “where” to allow parking for these items can be controversial as there are citizens 
passionate on both sides of this issue. Some citizens want the ability to keep a unit at home to 
reduce storage costs and have ready access to it. Others are equally passionate that units stored 
in front of homes within one and two-family residential areas result in a cluttered aesthetic that 
can reduce property values. 
 
A draft ordinance (Attachment 2) has been prepared with proposed revisions establishing 
alternate standards providing for the following:   
 


• Establish definitions for Recreational Vehicle and Utility Trailer. 
 


• Establish standards providing for the parking of a single boat, trailer, or RV within a 
front yard area when in conformance with specific criteria. Additionally, there is a 
provision to park a second item on lots larger than 0.5 acre. 


 
• If a property owner is unable to comply with the proposed criteria, they must comply 


with the City’s existing standards of parking an item behind the front wall of a residence 
and providing screening to a height of 6-feet from view of the public right-of-way. 


 
• Citizens having two items would be allowed to park one in the front yard consistent 


with the standards proposed and a second item behind the front wall of a residence 
and providing screening to a height of 6-feet from view of the public right-of-way, as 
they can today.  
 


It is important to recognize the proposed revisions will not, in most cases, allow for the parking of 
large trailers, boats or RVs in driveways. Most homes constructed within the last 30-years or more 
have a 20± foot-deep front yard setback from the back of sidewalk to a home’s attached garage. 
In this situation, the largest RV that could likely be parked in front of a residential garage is a unit 
that is approximately 15-16 feet in length. The remaining area will be occupied by the trailer frame, 
rear bumper, and hitch/tongue of the unit.    
 
Large units will still be required to park within an adequately sized side yard/rear yard and be 
screened to City standards or stored offsite at an approved location.  







       


 


 
Providing an opportunity to allow for the parking of boats, trailers, and RVs within residential front 
yard areas, when compliant with specific criteria that does not compromise public safety, could 
result in code enforcement being more effective because they will spend less time on this issue. 
 
After consideration by the Planning Commission, the proposed ordinance will be brought back to 
the City Council, with the Planning Commission’s recommendation where, if approved, the 
ordinance will need to be introduced at one meeting and adopted at a second City Council 
meeting. The ordinance will become effective 30 days following adoption.  
 
As part of bringing this matter forward, a public hearing notice was advertised in the Appeal 
Democrat newspaper and mailed notice was provided to known persons who may have filed code 
enforcement complaints, as well as property owners who may be or have been in violation of the 
current ordinance requirements. 
 
Environmental Determination: 
 
After reviewing the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and the Guidelines, staff believes 
this project is covered by the general rule specified at CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) and 
has determined with certainty that there is no possibility the proposed update to the Municipal 
Code would cause a significant, adverse, effect on the environment.  This is because the 
proposed revisions merely provide for refinements to existing allowed uses and for additional 
clarity regarding the standards for the parking of boats, utility trailers and recreational vehicles on 
residential property.   
 
Additionally, this project can also be considered exempt from environmental review pursuant to 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15301, Existing Facilities. The proposed amendments to the standards 
for the parking of boats, trailers and RVs could potentially result in minor alterations to existing 
residences involving negligible or no expansion of the residential use at these existing residences. 
Additionally, none of the exceptions to this exemption as set forth in CEQA Guideline Section 
15300.2 apply and the project does not present an “unusual Circumstance.” .  
 
 
Recommended Actions: 
 
  
A. Conduct a Public Hearing; and  
 
B. Adopt a Resolution of the Planning Commission of the City of Yuba City recommending the 
City Council find the project is exempt from environmental review pursuant to CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15061 (b)(3) and recommend the City Council approve Zoning Code Amendment 23-01 
to revise the parking standards for boats, utility trailers and recreational vehicles in residential 
areas.    
  







Planning Commission  
December 13, 2023 
 


 
 
Attachments: 
 


1. Resolution 
2. Draft Ordinance 
3. Public Comment Received 


 
 
 







ATTACHMENT 1







 1 


PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION NO. 23-28 


 


RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
YUBA CITY RECOMMENDING THE CITY COUNCIL FIND PROJECT ZC 
23-01 IS EXEMPT FROM ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW PURSUANT TO 
CEQA GUIDELINES SECTION 15061(B)(3) AND RECOMMEND THE 
CITY COUNCIL APPROVE ZONING CODE AMENDMENT 23-01 TO 
REVISE THE PARKING STANDARDS FOR BOATS, UTILITY 
TRAILERS, AND RECREATION VEHICLES IN RESIDENTIAL AREAS 


 
WHEREAS, on January 26, 2023, and September 7, 2023, the parking of boats, 


trailers, and RVs was discussed at City Council workshops. As a result of Council 
feedback, staff has prepared Municipal Code revisions to generally allow the parking of a 
single boat, trailer, or recreational vehicles (RVs) within front yard areas of one and two-
family residentially zoned areas when in compliance with specific standards; and 


WHEREAS, it would be beneficial to the City to revise the code to incorporate 
statutory changes and other miscellaneous revisions for consideration to keep the document 
contemporary for the City’s needs; and  


WHEREAS, on October 3, 2023, the City Council unanimously initiated a Municipal 
Code Amendment to revise the standards associated with the parking of boats, trailers 
and RVs within front yard areas of one and two family residentially zoned areas; and 


WHEREAS, on December 13, 2023, the Planning Commission considered an 
amendment to the Yuba City Municipal Code to revise the parking standards for boats, 
utility trailers and recreational vehicles within front yard areas of one and two family 
residentially zoned areas (“proposed Ordinance”); and   


WHEREAS, the Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing on 
December 13, 2023, to consider the update to the Yuba City Municipal Code initiated by 
the City Council of the City of Yuba City, including whether the project was subject to the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA); and  


WHEREAS, after considering all information provided, and providing an 
opportunity to the public to provide public testimony, the Planning Commission 
recommends the City Council adopt the proposed Ordinance and make an associated 
determination that the proposed Ordinance is exempt from CEQA pursuant to CEQA 
Guidelines, sections 15061(b)(3) and 15301 


NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Planning Commission of the City 
of Yuba City as follows: 


1. Recitals: The Planning Commission hereby finds that all of the facts set forth in the 
recitals above are true and correct and incorporated herein. 







 2 


 
2. CEQA Findings: The Planning Commission recommends the City Council find that the 


adoption of the proposed project is covered by the general rule specified at CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) and has determined with certainty that there is no 
possibility the proposed amendment to the Municipal Code would cause a significant, 
adverse, effect on the environment.  This is because the proposed revisions merely 
provide for refinements to existing allowed uses and for additional clarity regarding the 
standards for the parking of boats, utility trailers and recreational vehicles on 
residential property.   


 
 Additionally, this project can also be considered exempt from environmental review pursuant 
to CEQA Guidelines Section 15301, Existing Facilities. The proposed amendments to the 
standards for the parking of boats, trailers and RVs could potentially result in minor alterations 
to existing residences involving negligible or no expansion of the residential use at these 
existing residences. Additionally, none of the exceptions to this exemption as set forth in 
CEQA Guideline Section 15300.2 apply and the project does not present an “unusual 
Circumstance.” 


 
3. General Plan Consistency.  Pursuant to Municipal Code Section 8-57202(d), the 


Planning Commission finds the proposed amendment to the Zoning Code is 
consistent with the General Plan. 


 
4. Public Benefit.  The Planning Commission finds the proposed Ordinance will 


provide a public benefit.  
 


5. No Detrimental Impact.  The Planning Commission finds that the proposed 
Ordinance will not be detrimental, or cause adverse effects, to adjacent property 
owners, residents, or the general public. 
 


6. Recommendation of Approval of the Ordinance.  Based on the information provided 
above, the Planning Commission recommends that the City Council of Yuba City 
adopt the proposed Ordinance as set forth in Exhibit “A.”   
 


7. Effective Date of Resolution.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately.   
 


The foregoing Resolution was duly and regularly introduced, passed and adopted by the 
Planning Commission of the City of Yuba City at a regular meeting thereof held on 
December 13, 2023, by the following vote: 
 
Ayes:   


Noes:  


Absent: 


Recused: 







 3 


 


By order of the Planning Commission of the City of Yuba City. 


 


  


Jackie Sillman, Planning Commission 
Chair 


ATTEST: 


 


 


Benjamin Moody, Secretary to the Planning Commission 
 


 







ATTACHMENT 2







ORDINANCE NO. ___ 


AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF YUBA CITY 
AMENDING REGULATIONS FOR THE PARKING OF BOATS, TRAILERS AND 


RECREATIONAL VEHICLES IN ONE AND TWO FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICTS 


WHEREAS, the City of Yuba City has adopted standards in its Municipal Code for the 
parking of recreational vehicles in residential areas of the City; and 


WHEREAS, the City of Yuba City desires to update these standards to better reflect the 
desires of the community and to assist code enforcement by having clear standards; and 


WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Yuba City discussed the parking of boats, utility 
trailers and recreational vehicles at public workshops on January 26, 2023 and September 7, 
2023; and  


WHEREAS, on October 3, 2023, the City Council of the City of Yuba City unanimously 
initiated an update to the Municipal Code to revise the standards applicable to the parking of 
boats, utility trailers and recreational vehicles within one and two-family residential districts;  


WHEREAS, the City on December 2, 2023, published a legal notice in compliance with 
State law concerning the Planning Commission’s consideration on December 13, 2023 and 
provided written notice to known persons to the City who have previously expressed an interest 
in this item; and   


WHEREAS, the Planning Commission considered this ordinance at its meeting on 
December 13, 2023, and made a recommendation to the City Council. 


NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Yuba City does ordain as follows: 


SECTION 1.  Recitals.  The above recitals are incorporated by reference. 


SECTION 2.  CEQA.  The City Council finds this project is covered by the general rule of 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3), and has 
determined with certainty that there is no possibility that the proposed update to the Municipal 
Code would cause a significant, adverse, effect on the environment.  This is because the 
proposed update merely provides for refinements to existing allowed uses and for additional 
clarity regarding the standards for the parking of boats, utility trailers and recreational vehicles on 
residential property.   


Additionally, this project can also be considered exempt from environmental review pursuant to 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15301, Existing Facilities. The proposed amendments to the standards 
for the parking of boats, trailers and RVs could potentially result in minor alterations to existing 
residences involving negligible or no expansion of the residential use at these existing residences. 
Additionally, none of the exceptions to this exemption as set forth in CEQA Guideline Section 
15300.2 apply and the project does not present an “unusual Circumstance.”   


 


SECTION 3.  Subsection (c) of Section 8-5.6104  of the Yuba City Municipal Code is 
amended to read in its entirety as follows: 







(c) One- and two-family residential standards. 


(1) Parking in yards. The parking of any vehicles is prohibited in any portion of 
a required front or street side yard, except on a driveway leading to required 
parking or to an improved parking space (see Section 8-5.6104(7)). Any 
driveway leading to a garage, carport or required parking space shall not 
be less than 20 ft. in length measured from the back of an existing or 
planned sidewalk.  


(2) Boat, utility trailer and recreational vehicle parking. A boat, utility trailer and 
recreational vehicle may only be parked on the portions of a lot behind the 
front wall of the residence facing each street or right-of-way. The 
recreational vehicle shall be screened to a height of 6 ft. from view from 
any public right-of-way. A recreational vehicle used as daily transportation 
may be parked overnight on recognized parking areas.  


(3) Alternative standards.  As an alternative to the requirement of Section 8-
5.6104(c)(2), a single trailered boat, utility trailer or recreational vehicle may 
be parked in the front yard of the residence only when in conformance with 
all of the following standards: 


(i) The parking area shall be developed to a similar standard as the 
existing established driveway (i.e. concrete, asphalt concrete, pavers, 
or gravel). Strip driveways utilizing concrete, asphalt or pavers may be 
installed under each wheel from the edge of right-of-way to a 
designated parking area.  


 
(ii) The parking area shall connect with the public right-of-way consistent 


with City standards under approval of an encroachment permit, if 
applicable.   


 
(iii) New parking areas shall not result in stormwater runoff onto 


neighboring properties.  
 
(iv) Parking areas shall not be located in front of an existing residence’s 


living area and shall occur in front of an existing garage or front side 
yard area.  The parking area shall be approximately perpendicular to 
the existing street and shall not be angled.  


 
(v) A parked recreational vehicle, utility trailer or boat shall be setback a 


minimum of twelve (12) inches from the back of side walk or edge of 
the public right-of-way and shall not be artificially raised or angled in 
order to meet this requirement.   


 
(vi) A parked recreational vehicle, utility trailer or boat shall not exceed 


twelve (12) feet in height.  
 
(vii)  Utility connections (electricity, water, wastewater) shall be temporary 


for servicing only (up to 7-days).  







 
(viii)  Covers shall be fitted and in good order and untorn; tarps are 


prohibited.  
 
(ix) Parking areas shall be kept free of accumulation of leaves, cobwebs, 


weeds, or miscellaneous debris. 
 
(x) Parking areas shall not create a site distance hazard to neighboring 


property owners or users of streets or sidewalks. 
 
(xi) Parking areas shall be maintained so as not to create a public nuisance 


as defined by this Code.  
 
(xii)  On lots greater than 0.3 of an acre, alternative parking locations and 


surfacing may be approved by the Planning Director. 
 
(xiii)  On lots greater than 0.5 of an acre, a second recreational vehicle, 


utility trailer or boat may be stored within a front yard area and 
alternative parking locations and surfacing may be approved by the 
Planning Director. 


(xiv)  A fence screening a side or rear yard shall not be removed in order 
to accommodate a larger boat, utility trailer or recreational vehicle 
otherwise in conformance with these alternative standards.  


 


SECTION 4.  Section 8-5.8046.5 of Article 80 of Chapter 5 of Title 8 of the Yuba City 
Municipal Code is added to read in its entirety as follows: 


Sec. 8-5.8046.5.  Recreational Vehicle (RV).   


A motor home, converted bus, travel trailer, truck camper or camping trailer, designed for 
temporary human habitation for recreation or emergency occupancy, which, when 
transported upon a public roadway, measures 8 feet or less in width and 40 feet or less in 
length and which is either self-propelled, truck-mounted or permanently towable on the 
highway without a permit. A recreational vehicle does not include utility trailers. 


SECTION 5.  Section 8-5.8063.5 of Article 80 of Chapter 5 of Title 8 of the Yuba City 
Municipal Code is added to read in its entirety as follows: 


Sec. 8-5.8063.5. Trailer, Utility. A trailer used for the transportation of the user’s personal 
property, commerce, or designed to be used for transportation of livestock, and does 
not exceed a gross weight of 10,000 pounds or a manufacturer’s gross vehicle weight 
rating (GVWR) of 10,000 pounds. 


SECTION 6.  Severability.  If any provision(s) of this Ordinance or the application thereof 
to any person or circumstances is held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect any other provision or application, 
and to this end the provisions of this ordinance are declared to be severable. The City Council 







hereby declares that they would have adopted this ordinance and each section, subsection, 
sentence, clause, phrase, part or portion thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more 
sections, subsections, clauses, phrases, parts or portions thereof be declared invalid or 
unconstitutional. 


 
SECTION 7.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective on the thirty-first day after 


its adoption. 


 


This Ordinance was introduced on _____________, and duly adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Yuba City at its duly noticed regular meeting _____________, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  Council Member(s): 
NOES:  Council Member(s): 
ABSENT: Council Member(s): 
 
 


      ______________________________ 
      Shon Harris, Mayor 


      City of Yuba City 
 
 


Attest: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Ciara Wakefield, Deputy City Clerk 
City of Yuba City 
 
 
 


APPROVED AS TO FORM  
COUNSEL FOR YUBA CITY 


 
 


       __________________________________ 
 Shannon Chaffin, City Attorney 


Aleshire & Wynder, LLP 







ATTACHMENT 3


























